Capsule Summary of 118 Conduit Street (AA-425)

The house at 118 Conduit Street occupies a site on the south side of Conduit Street between Duke
of Gloucester Street and Union Street, but closer to Union Street. The property was originally part
of a larger tract of land that was subdivided and cut through, first by Conduit Street between 1877
and 1880 and later, by Union Street in 1890. The house at 118 Conduit Street was built after the
extension of Conduit Street, but before 1580, when the then-owner of the property is listed in the
U.S. Census Records as living at that address. It is one of six houses, now designated 114-128

Conduit Street, which were erected on the street immediately following its dedication.

The side-passage-plan house at 118 Conduit Street is a 2-1/2-story, three-bay frame building with
some Italianate details, including a bracketed wood cornice on the front and a projecting window bay
on the eastern side. The house was originally set back from the front of the lot, but now, since the
addition of the front porch in the mid-20th century, fronts directly onto the public sidewalk and has
no frontyard setback. It is covered with a gable roof with a central chimney stack and is clad with
cedar shingles over the original weatherboard siding. A two-story wing, currently serving as a rental

apartment, was added to the house between 1897 and 1903.

The house at 118 Conduit Street was built during the late 19th century as a result of the new-cut
Conduit Street. Its construction, along with adjacent building activity, provides important insight into
the residential development patterns and growth of this part of the City of Annapolis during the mid-

to late 19th century.
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1. Name of Property

historic name

other names 118 Conduit Street

2. Location

street & number 118 Conduit Street not for publication ___
city or town _Annapolis ‘ vicinity
state _MD code county code ___
zip code _21401
3. State/Federal Agency Certification N/A
4. National Park Service Certification N/A
5. Classification
Ownership of Property (Check all that apply)
X private
public-local
public-State
public-Federal
Category of Property (Check only one box)
X building(s)
district
site
structure
object
Number of Resources within Property
Contributing Noncontributing
1 buildings
- - sites
structures
- - objects
1 Total
Is this property listed in the National Register?
Yes _X Name of Listing _Annapolis Historic District

No
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6. Function or Use

Historic Functions (Enter categories from instructions)
Cat: _Domestic Sub:

Current Functions (Enter categories from instructions)
Cat: _Domestic Sub:

7. Description

Architectural Classification (Enter categories from instructions)
Vernacular :

Materials (Enter categories from instructions)
foundation _Brick
roof _Asphalt Shingles
walls _Cedar Shingles

other

Narrative Description (Describe the historic and current condition
of the property.) See Continuation Sheet No. _7-1
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8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria (Mark "x" in one or more
boxes for the criteria qualifying the property for National
Register listing)

A Property is associated with events that have made a
significant contribution to the broad patterns of
our history.

B Property is associated with the lives of persons
significant in our past.

X c Property embodies the distinctive characteristics
of a type, period, or method of construction or
represents the work of a master, or possesses high
artistic values, or represents a significant and
distinguishable entity whose components 1lack
individual distinction.

D Property has yielded, or 1is 1likely to yield
information important in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations (Mark "X" in all the boxes that apply.)

A owned by a religious institution or used for
religious purposes.

____ B removed from its original location.

N ¢ a birthplace or a grave.

D a cemetery.

______E a reconstructed building, object,or structure.
I a commemorative property.

- G " less than 50 years of age or achieved significance

within the past 50 years.
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Areas of Significance (Enter categories from instructions)
Architecture

Period of Significance _1877-1880

Significant Dates _1877-1880

Significant Person (Complete if Criterion B is marked above)

Cultural Affiliation

Architect/Builder _unknown

Narrative Statement of Significance (Explain the significance of
the property.) See Continuation Sheet No. _8-1
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9. Major Bibliographical References

(Cite the books, articles, legal records, and other sources used in
preparing this form.)

Articles, Books, Published and Unpublished Sources

Anderson, Elizabeth B. Annapolis: A Walk Through History.
(Centreville, MD: Tidewater Publishers, 1984.

Annapolis Historic District. National Register of Historic Places
Inventory-Nomination Form. 1984.

Anne Arundel County Assessment Records. 1876-1896. Maryland State
Archives. Record Group C35.

Anne Arundel County Land Records. Anne Arundel County Courthouse
and Maryland State Archives, Annapolis, Maryland.

Anne Arundel County Records of Incorporation [Deed of Dedication
for the extension of Conduit Street]. Liber SH 13, Folio 138-140.
Anne Arundel County Courthouse, Annapolis, Maryland

The Maryland Comprehensive Historic Preservation Plan. Maryland

Historical Trust. Department of Economic and Community
Development, June 1986.

Papenfuse, Edward. "Southern Urban Society after the Revolution:
Annapolis, Maryland, 1782-1786." Final Report for NEH Grant #H69-
0-178, Historic Annapolis Foundation, 1969.

"Historic Customhouse Inventory Form," n.d., Historic Annapolis
Foundation.

Record Group 29 "Records of the Bureau of the Census." 1900, 1910
and 1920 Census; Anne Arundel County, Maryland.

Maps and Drawings

Hopkins, G.M. Map of Annapolis, 1877.

Map of Annapolis, Southern Map Company, Baltimore, MD., 1905.
Sanborn Fire Insurance Maps, 1885, 1891, 1896, 1897, 1903, 1908,
1913, 1921, 1930, 1954.

Prints and Photographs

Warren, Mame. "The Annapolis I Remember Collection." Maryland
State Archives. Negative Number SC 2140-364.
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10. Geographical Data

Acreage of Property _3,981 square feet

Verbal Boundary Description (Describe the boundaries of the
property.)

The property at 118 Conduit Street comprises Parcel 694 on Tax Map
32.

Boundary Justification (Explain why the boundaries were selected.)

Parcel 694 has historically been associated with 118 Conduit Street
since its construction.

name/title _Kim Williams/Architectural Historian

organization _TRACERIES date _January 22, 1993
street & number 1606 20th St., N.W. telephone (202) 232-6870
city or town Washington, D.C. state zip code 2000

12. Property Owner

name _Marion S. Borsodi
street & number _118 Conduit Street telephone (410) 263-3576
city or town Annapolis state _MD 2zip code 21401
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Built between 1877-1880, the house at 118 Conduit Street is located
on the southern side of Conduit Street, near the intersection with
Union Street. It is sited on a residential block of primarily
free-standing and attached dwellings of similar size and scale that
were also built during the late 19th century. The house itself is
a free-standing structure separated from its western neighbor at
116 Conduit Street by approximately 11 feet and from its eastern
neighbor by approximately 20 feet. An original ornate wrought iron
railing encloses the side yards from the street.' An original
wrought iron gate on the western side allows access to the side
walk laid in brick and leads to the rear yard.

The side-passage-plan house at 118 Conduit Street is a 2-1/2-story,
three-bay frame building with some Italianate details, including a
bracketed wood cornice on the front and a projecting window bay on
the eastern side. The house was originally set back from the front
of the lot, but now, since the addition of the front porch in the
mid-20th century, fronts directly onto the public sidewalk and has
no frontyard setback. It is covered with a gable roof with a
central chimney stack and is clad with cedar shingles over the
original weatherboard siding. A two-story wing, currently serving
as a rental apartment, was added to the house between 1897 and
1903. It extends off of the rear and wraps around the eastern side
of the house.

The house is similar in size and scale to the other houses along
Conduit Street, and was built concurrently with the group of six
buildings located towards this end the street. The house is
especially similar in detail to its two neighbors at 116 and 120
Conduit Street; although the builder remains undocumented, it
appears that these three houses may have been built by the same
builder.

Divided into three narrow bays, the front elevation consists, on
the first floor, of a side-passage entry door and two, long and
narrow windows, and on the second floor, by three slightly shorter
window openings located directly above those on the first. Two
dormer windows with large, overhanging eaves project from the wide

* an historic photograph of 118 Conduit Street shows the original wrought
iron fence in its entirety before the addition of the front porch interrupted it.
Mame Warren, "I Remember Collection,"” Maryland State Archives, SC-2140-364.
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gable of the main roof. The windows on both the first and second
floor are surrounded by simple architraves with a slightly
projecting cornice and contain 2/2 sash. The dormers have shorter,
segmental-arched openings with 2/2 windows. The entry with its
two-light transom is similarly surrounded by an architrave with a
slightly projecting cornice. The entry door itself is a wood and
glass replacement door.

The house was originally a flat-fronted dwelling, until in the
period between 1913 and 1921, a porch was built across the front of
the house. This hipped roof porch, set upon a brick pier
foundation, has three slender wood columns. A simple balustrade
extends between two of the three porch columns.?

The east and west side elevations present rather austere wall
surfaces. Only two narrow windows, located towards the rear of the
west elevation, pierce the entire wall surface. The east elevation
is similarly unarticulated, save for a polygonal window bay located
towards the front of the house. The window bay is a single-story
and has windows on its three planar surfaces. Each window contains
2/2-1ight, double-hung sash.

The rear of the house opens onto a long and narrow yard and
includes a two-story rear wing that wraps around the east side of
the house. Originally a single-story rear wing that housed the
kitchen/dining area, this space was raised, in two phases, to two
full stories. The first addition, made to accommodate a second
floor bathroom, occurred above the kitchen proper by 1913. The
second addition, above the dining area and made to accommodate a
bedroom, was built ca. 1920.3

Originally built as a single-family residence, the house was

? An historic photograph from the Mame Warren, "I Remember Collection" of
118 conduit Street shows the house without the front porch.

® Mrs. Borsodi, the current owner of the property was born in the house.
The second story above the kitchen was built as her bedroom when she was a child
and although she can’t remember the exact date, she thinks it was ca. 1920.
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converted into two separate apartments in the 1960s or 1970s.®* The
current owner occupies the first floor apartment, while a tenant
occupies the second floor level. This second floor apartment is
entered through an entry door located on the front of the wrap-
around rear wing.

The first floor features a modified side-passage, double=-parlor
plan. The narrow hallway opens off of the outside door and leads
directly back to the large rear room or parlor. A single door
opening off of the west side wall of the hall leads into the front
room, currently serving as a bedroom. The square room is enlarged
and lighted by the polygonal window bay located against the east
wall. The wood floors, molded baseboard and molded door and window

trim are all original.

A door on the north wall of the bedroom opens onto the rear parlor.
This is a large living space with a fireplace located against the
northern wall. The fireplace, located on center of the house and
against the wall that is shared by the front room, probably served
the front room as well, although no evidence remains. The current
owner who was born in the house has no recollection of a fireplace
serving this front room. The mantle to the fireplace in the rear
room is a plain wood mantle with a projecting mantle piece. The
southern wall of this parlor leads directly into the rear kitchen
space, while a door leading to the basement opens off of the west
side wall.

The rear kitchen is treated quite differently from the main section
of the house and also is quite different from the other rear wings
of the houses on Conduit Street. 1In particular, this wing differs
in shape, size and interior details. The wing was originally one-
story tall, as opposed to two, is square in plan as opposed to
rectangular, and wraps around the side of the house instead of
extending directly off of the back elevation of the house.

The interior of the kitchen features beaded board wainscoting not
found elsewhere in the house, and simple, flat trim around the
doors and windows that is unlike the molded trim found in the rest

* Although Mrs. Borsodi cannot remember the exact date, she knows that her
father converted the single-family residence into two apartments in either the
1960s or 1970s.
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of the house. The kitchen has a unornamented quality to it that is
not found in any of the other kitchens on the block. The space
itself is actually divided into two: a narrow room along the east
side of the space was originally the kitchen proper, while the
larger area accommodates a breakfast/dining room. However, the
narrow kitchen area was divided into two to allow for a bathroom,
while the seating area came to house much of the Kkitchen
appliances. The second story additions occurred first, over the
kitchen property, and then, over the dining/eating area.

The second floor of the house is currently rented out and was not
accessible. According to the owner, however, the second floor has
three rooms and a kitchenette and bathroom and the attic level is
one large open space that is used for storage.

The basement level, reached from a door off of the rear room, is a
full basement with brick floors and walls only under this rear
room; a dirt crawl space extends off of the basement towards the
rear and front of the house.
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The house at 118 Conduit Street occupies a site on the south side
of Conduit Street between Duke of Gloucester Street and Union
Street, but closer to Union Street. The property was originally
part of a larger tract of land that was subdivided and cut through,
first by Conduit Street between 1877 and 1880 and later, by Union
Street in 1890. The house at 118 Conduit Street was built after
the extension of Conduit Street, but before 1880, when it is listed
in the U.S. Census Records.

The property now designated 118 Conduit Street was originally part
of a large tract of land, designated Lot 35 on the Stoddert Map of
1718, and owned at that time by William Bladen, and later his son
Thomas. In 1725 the land was sold to Benjamin Tasker. Upon
Benjamin’s death in 1768, the land went to his wife Anna, and in
1775, it was passed to their grandson Daniel Dulaney, Jr. In 1781,
Daniel Dulaney’s estate was sold. Part of Lot 35, on which 118
Conduit Street now stands, was sold to Col. Jochn Stewart as a
nominal purchaser for Nathaniel Ramsey. In 1793, Charles Wallace
purchased the property from Nathaniel Ramsey. After Wallace’s
death, the property was sold by Nicholas Brewer, trustee in the
Chancery Case involving Wallace’s will to Edward Williams.

In the 66 year period between 1793 and 1859, the property passed
through several hands, until eventually it was purchased by George
Wells. George Wells, a prominent local resident who was state
senator in 1854 and 1856, President of Farmers Bank of Annapolis,
chief head of the Annapolis and Elkridge Railroad and Warden of St.
Anne’s Church, owned both halves of Stoddert Lot 35, as well as
adjoining property. Towards the end of his life, George Wells fell
into bankruptcy and his lands were sold by the bank to recover his
debt. In 1878, William H. Thompson purchased a portion of Wells'’
estate from Alexander Randall, who was acting as Trustee for George
Wells and the Farmer’s National Bank. Thompson purchased the land
that is currently designated 118-124 Conduit Street.

Prior to 1877, Conduit Street ran for a single block between Main
Street and Duke of Gloucester Street. Named for the fact that in
the 18th century it provided a passage, or conduit, from Main
Street to Duke of Gloucester Street, Conduit Street was extended
1877~1878 to Spa Creek in order to provide access to new lots
located behind Market Street. Cut at an angle to the already
existing block of Conduit Street, the new stretch of Conduit Street
began on the southwest side of Duke of Gloucester Street and ran at
an angle perpendicular to it and parallel to Market Street. At
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this time, no cross street existed between Duke of Gloucester
Street and Spa Creek. In 1890, Union Street, a one-block street,
was cut between Conduit and Market Streets, bisecting the large and
narrow block that had been created by the extension of Conduit

Street to Spa Creek.

Prior to the extension of Conduit Street, only scattered
development existed between Duke of Gloucester Street and Spa
Creek. According to Gray’s Map of Annapolis, 1877, a row of
buildings aligned the southwest side of Duke of Gloucester Street
and a few individual buildings were located on the northwest side
of Market Street. No buildings within the interior of the square
are indicated on the map. After Conduit Street was extended, 1877-
1878, but before 1885, according to the Sanborn Map of 1885, a
group of six buildings, identified as dwellings on the map, were
erected on the new stretch of Conduit Street. The house at 118
Conduit Street is one of the two freestanding buildings located in
the middle of this row. Although this house does not appear on the
historic maps until 1885, census record research indicates that it
was erected before 1880 when the house was occupied.

Bought by William H. Thompson in 1878, the property was then sold
in 1884 to John M. Gesner.’ According to U.S. Census records,
Gesner, a musician in the Naval Academy Band, lived at the house
with his wife, his daughter and two sons. One of his sons worked
as a blacksmith, while his daughter worked as a clerk in a store.

In 1910, Gesner sold the property to Charles and Kathryn P.
Shearman. Charles, an English-born singer, immigrated to America
in 1905 and was naturalized a U.S. citizen in 1910. Charles lived
at the house with his wife, two sons and daughter.® After the
death of his wife, Kathryn, Charles Shearman remarried. In his

5 Tax books indicate that John Gesner was assessed $700.00 for a frame house
on Conduit Street as early as 1879. However, the deed indicates that Gesner did
not buy this property until 1884. The census records for 1880 indicate that John
Gesner lived in an unnumbered house on Conduit Street with his family. The
conflict in documents prevents a clear understanding of the property at this
point. However, it is certain that the house was erected between 1877 and 1880
and maybe as early as 1879,

¢ Mr. shearman'’s daughter, Marion Borsodi, who was born in the house is the
current owner of the property today.
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will, Charles left the property to his second wife, Alice Larnia,
for life to be conveyed, at her death, to his daughter, Marion. 1In
1975, Marion Borsodi bought the property from her step-mother and
moved back to the house in which she was born. Marion Borsodi
currently owns and occupies the house.
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Historic Period Theme: Architecture, Landscape Architecture
Community Planning

Geographic Organization: Western Shore
Chronological/Developmental Period: Industrial/Urban Dominance

Resource Type(s): Standing Structures

&
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Chain of Title for 118 Conduit Street

1878:

1878:

1884:

1910:

1975:

1975:

1981:

George Wells to Alexander Randall, Trustee.
Randall is give the power to sell Wells’ land
in two mortgages between Wells and the
Farmer’s National Bank of Annapolis. Liber SH
10 Folio 488 and 490. Alexander Randall is
named Trustee in Liber SH 10 Folio 544.

Alexander Randall, Trustee to William H. Thompson

Liber SH 13 Folio 222

William H. and Jane A. Thompson to John M. Gesner

Liber SH 23 Folio 532

John M. and lfary N. Gesner to Charles H. and
Kathryn P. Shearman
Liber GW 78 Folio 2

Alice Lavinia Shearman Dove (formerly Alice
Lavinia Shearman) and Marion S. Borsodi to
Allan C. Westcott

Liber 2749 Folio 434

Allan C. Westcott to Marion S. Borsodi and
Mary Lorna Cahall
Liber 2749 Folio 436

Richard S. Cahall, Trustee to Marion S.

Borsodi and Mary Lornal Cahall.
Liber 3396 Folio 553
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MARYLAND HISTORICAL TRUST SURVEY NUMBER: /41f$ ,94;L:f‘

21 STATE CIRCLE NEGATIVE FILE NUMBER:
SHAW HOUSE
ANNAPOLIS, MARYLAND 21401 UTM REFERENCES:

Zone/Easting/Northi
HISTORIC SITES SURVEY FIELD SHEET 8 ing

Individual Structure Survey Form

U.S.G.S. QUAD. MAP:

PRESENT FORMAL NAME:

COUNTY: Anne Arundel ORIGINAL FORMAL NAME: !
TOWN: Annapolis B
LOCATION: 118 Conduit Street | PRESENT USE: SF RES "
ORIGINAL USE: SF Res .
ARCHITECT/ENGINEER: o
COMMON NAME:
BUILDER/CONTRACTOR:
FUNCTIONAL TYPE: Res Map 32 Par 194 |
OWNER: Mary L. Cahall PHYSICAL CONDITION OF STRUCTURE:
ADDRESS: 1404 Samar Street Excellent ( ) Good ( % j
Beltsville, MD 20705 Fair ( ) Poor: ( ) f
ACCESSIBILITY TO PUBLIC: THEME : !
Yes (X) No () Restricted ( ) STYLE: Vernacular - Annapolis Federal
LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE: DATE BUILT:
Local (¥Y) State ( ) National ( ) (::} 1885-1891

GENERAL DESCRIPTION:
Structural System
1. Foundation: Stone( )Brick(X)Concrete( )Concrete Block( )
2. Wall Structure
A. Wood Frame: Post and Beam( )Balloon(X)
B. Wood Bearing Masonry: Brick( )Stone( )Concrete( )Concrete Block( )
c. Iron( ) D. Steel( ) E. Other:
3. Wall Covering: Clapboard( )Board and Batten( )Wood Shingle(X)Shiplap( )
Novelty( )Stucco( )Sheet Metal( )Aluminum( )Asphalt Shingle( )
Brick Veneer( )Stone Veneer( ) Asbestos Shingle( )
Bonding Pattern: Other:
4. Roof Structure
A. Truss: Wood(X)Iron( )Steel( )Concrete( )
B. Other:
5. Roof Covering: Slate( )Wood Shingle( )Asphalt Shingle( )Sheet Metal(X)
Built Up( )Rolled( )Tile( )Other:
6. Engineering Structure:
7. Other:
Appendages: Porches())Towers( )Cupolas( )Dormers(X)Chimneys(X)Sheds( )Ells( X)
Wings ( )Other: Bay at east side wall
Roof Style: Gable( )Hip( )Shed( )Flat( )Mansard( )Gambrel( )Jerkinhead( )
Saw Tooth( )With Monitor( WithBellcast( )With Parapet( )With False Front( )

Other:
Number of Stories: ?2 1/2
Number of Bays: 3 x 3 Entrance Location: Right
Approximate Dimensions: 15 x 40
THREAT TO STRUCTURE: LOCAL ATTITUDES:
No Threat(X)Zoning( )Roads( ) Positive( )Negative( )
Development( )Deterioration( ) Mixed( ) Other:
Alteration ( )Other:




ADDITIONAL ARCHITECTURAL OR STRUCTURAL DESCRIPTION: L\A_
' '\J

Two gabled dormers with later trim, original elliptical sash; good cornice with

modillions and frieze; molded window and transom lit door caps; one story bay unit at
front bay of left elevation; full width hipped roof porch on Tuscan columns.

RELATED STRUCTURES:

(Describe)

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE:

Good Vernacular Annapolis Federal despite alterations to roof dormers; good use of
materials; contributes to streetscape.

REFERENCES:

MAP:

(Indicate North In Circle)

SURROUNDING ENVIRONMENT:

Open Lane( )Woodland(, )Scattered Buildings(
Moderately Built Up(JGDensely-Built Up( )
Residential( )Commercial( )

Agricultural( )Industrial( )

Roadside Strip Development( )

Other:

RECORDED BY:
Russell Wright

ORGANIZATION:
Historic Annapolis,

DATE RECORDED: ’4% ”fj
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NFORMATION AND PHOTCSRAPHS MAY BE ADDED DN SHEET OF SAME si2E

SUPPLEMENTAL T

J

1. sTatE Annapolis, Maryland
COUNTY
TOKN VIGINITY
STREET no. 118 Conduit Strest

ORIGINAL SWNER
ORIGINAL USE Tesidence

pRESENT OWNER Chas. H. Sherman
PRESENT USE Tesidence

WALL CONSTRUCTION wood shingle

NO. OF 5TORIES H{wo plus dormasr attic

HISTORIC AMERICAN BUILDINGS SURVEY
INVENTORY

2 NAME
DATE OR PERIOD Late 189tk C.

ARCHITECT
BUILDER

STYLE 10th C. Annapolis residentis

5 FOR LIBRARY OF CONGRESS USE

. 15 FHYSICAL CONDITION OF STRUCTUZE

4. NOTABLE FEATURES, HISTORICAL SIGNIFICANGE AND DESCRIPTION
118 Conduit Street is & slightly lavger version of 116 though brown shingile.
Identical colummed porch and 2/2 windows.

The dormersare rather unique; the windows are 2/2

and & row of modillions.
with elipticel tops,

lerge and extends over the edges and covers the whole dormer.
Needs only proper maintenance; close {o.other baiidings

nice small yard.

of same scale and siza.
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@ 4. LOCATION MaP (Plon Gprivacl)
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‘5 W

OPEN TO PUBLIC &2

but the triangular gable roof is proportionsiely wvery

118 hzs a
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7. PHOTOCRAMY

The cornice has two small brackeis

9. PUBLISHED SOURGCES (author, Titla, Pugeal
INTERVIEWRS, RECORDS, PHOTOS, 5 f o

P NAME, ADDRESS AND TITLE (F RECORDER
William D. Morgan

Columbia University

Waw York City

OATE OF REcorp July 25, 16587
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118 Conduit AA 425
Annapolis, Anne Arundel County
Russell Wright July, 1982
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